IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WY /

CASE NO. 83,212

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

CITY OF MIAMI,

Petitioner,

vs.

JAMES P. GILBERT,

Respondent.

On Review of a Certified Questions from the First District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

A. QUINN JONES, III, City Attorney KATHRYN S. PECKO Assistant City Attorneys Counsel for City of Miami 300 Dupont Plaza Center 300 Biscayne Boulevard Way Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-6700

#

#### INTRODUCTION

This is another case where a claimant filed a claim in the workers' compensation tribunal as a result of the Court's decision issued in <u>City of Miami v. Barragan</u>, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989). The Court recently issued an opinion wherein it concluded that "our decision in <u>Barragan</u> has no effect on the amount of disability payments owed by the City to pensioners except for those payments accruing after the effective date of that decision." <u>City of Miami v. Bell</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S108, S109 (Fla. March 3, 1994). As of the time of service of the instant brief on April 4, 1994, the Court had not disposed of the Respondents' motion for rehearing or clarification filed March 18, 1994.

In the instant case, the City filed a motion to suspend briefing schedule and to enter a decision which conforms to the Court's decision in <u>Bell</u>. Claimant objected to the motion and the Court, by order dated March 14, 1994, ordered the City to serve its brief on or before April 4, 1994.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

James Gilbert, a firefighter and paramedic employed by the City of Miami, suffered a compensable accident on May 13, 1976.

The Court consolidated <u>Bell</u> with ten other cases: <u>City of Miami v. Arostegui</u>, No. 80,560; <u>City of Miami v. McLean</u>, No. 80,575; <u>City of Miami v. Meyer</u>, No. 80,652; <u>City of Miami v. Thomas</u>, No. 80,683; <u>City of Miami v. Fair</u>, No. 80,728; <u>City of Miami v. Hickey</u>, No. 80,981; <u>City of Miami v. Leibnitzer</u>, No. 80,998; <u>City of Miami v. King</u>, No. 80,999; <u>City of Miami v. Paredes</u>, No. 81,340; City of Miami v. Daugherty, No. 81,554.

(R. 6, 12). The City accepted Gilbert as permanently and totally disabled, with a weekly compensation rate of \$112.00. (R. 2, 354). Gilbert was granted a service-connected disability pension on December 18, 1976. (R. 6, 354). His gross disability pension was offset by \$485.33 monthly until August 1, 1989. (R. 354). This offset amount, together with interest, penalties, costs and attorney's fees, constitutes the amount in dispute in this appeal.

After the Court's decision in <u>Barragan v. City of Miami</u>, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), Gilbert filed a claim for reimbursement of his pension offset, together with interest, penalties, costs and attorney's fees on November 15, 1989. (R. 40, 354). The City defended, <u>inter alia</u>, on the basis that the <u>Barragan</u> decision should not be applied retroactively to entitle Gilbert to reimbursement. (R. 15, 40).

A Judge of Compensation Claims rejected the City's defenses, awarded Gilbert permanent total disability benefits of \$112.00 per week for the offset period, and further awarded a 10% penalty, interest on the benefits awarded, costs and attorney's fees. (R. 352-60). The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the award in toto, but certified to the Court the same questions certified in City of Miami v. Bell, 606 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) and City of Miami v. McLean, 605 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1st DCA

1992). 2 City of Miami v. Gilbert, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D236 (Fla. 1st DCA February 1, 1994)(A. 1). The First District also certified a third question for the Court's consideration: "whether the payment of benefits constituted 'compensation' for purposes of the award of interest." Id. (A. 1).

#### **ISSUES ON REVIEW**

I.

WHETHER THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS ERRED IN APPLYING BARRAGAN V. CITY OF MIAMI, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989) RETROACTIVELY WHERE SAID DECISION OVERRULED NUMEROUS APPELLATE PRECEDENTS UPON WHICH THE CITY RELIED TO ITS DETRIMENT.

II.

WHETHER THE CITY SHOULD BE SUBJECTED TO THE PENALTY FOR ITSFAILURE PAY A COMPENSATION CLAIM WHERE Α RETROACTIVE "BARRAGAN" PAYMENT DOES TOM CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" "AN OR INSTALLMENT COMPENSATION" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 440.20, FLA. STAT.

In <u>Bell</u>, the First District certified the following question: Is Section 440.20(7), applicable under the circumstances of this case, and if so, can the City of Miami, be legally excused from paying a penalty pursuant to that section on the amount of pension offset monies withheld in the past because the City did so in good faith reliance on the validity of the City ordinance authorizing the pension offset in view of the appellate decisions approving its validity? In <u>McLean</u>, the First District certified another question: whether an increase in workers' compensation benefits, awarded pursuant to section 440.21 to offset illegal deductions from an employee's pension fund, in accordance with <u>Barragan v. City of Miami</u>, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), constitutes "compensation" for purposes of Section 440.20, Florida Statutes?

#### III.

WHETHER THE CITY SHOULD BE SUBJECTED TO PAY PREJUDGMENT INTEREST FOR ITS FAILURE TO PAY A RETROACTIVE COMPENSATION CLAIM WHERE Α "BARRAGAN" PAYMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 440.20, FLA. STAT.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is governed by the Court's recent decision in <u>City of Miami v. Bell</u> and the consolidated cases wherein the Court held that it would be "fiscally unjust" to the taxpayers of the City of Miami to apply the <u>Barragan</u> decision retroactively against it. There is no reason to deviate from <u>Bell</u> in this case.

The second and third issues pertain to the propriety of assessing penalties and interest under the circumstances, which further drains the taxpayers where the City had no control over the conditions of nonpayment, i.e., it was operating in accordance with the judicial determinations which upheld its right to take the offset. However, these issues need not be reached given the Court's conclusion that <u>Barragan</u> is not to be applied retroactively against the City.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS ERRED IN APPLYING BARRAGAN V. CITY OF MIAMI, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989) RETROACTIVELY WHERE SAID DECISION OVERRULED NUMEROUS APPELLATE PRECEDENTS UPON WHICH THE CITY RELIED TO ITS DETRIMENT.

This case is controlled by the Court's very recent decision in City of Miami v. Bell, 19 Fla. L. Weekly, S108 (Fla. March 3,

1994). Just like <u>Bell</u> and the other consolidated cases, the first and most fundamental issue in this case is the retroactivity of the <u>Barragan</u> decision. This issue not only affects Gilbert, but numerous other claimants seeking retroactive reimbursement for pre-<u>Barragan</u> disability pension offsets.<sup>3,4</sup>

As the Court will recall from the briefs filed in <u>Bell</u> and the ten other cases, the City reduced disability pension benefits for its retired employees in an amount equal to workers compensation benefits to which they were entitled for the same disabling event, based on an ordinance originally adopted by the City of Miami in 1940. This action by the City was challenged in eight lawsuits, and in each case this Court, the Third District or the First District held that the City's offsets were proper.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Six offset reimbursements have been paid, aggregating almost \$700,000, as a consequence of the Court's denial of review in City of Miami v. Burnett, Case No. 79,925; City of Miami v. Pierattini, Case No. 79,926; City of Miami v. Johnson, Case No. 79,927; City of Miami v. Majewski, Case No. 79,928; City of Miami v. Moye, Case No. 79,951; and City of Miami v. Ogle, Case No. 80,055. The first of these cases, oddly, was one of the two decisions which held the Court's 1989 ordinance invalidation decision to be retroactive.

There are still a few cases pending in this First District Court of Appeal and some claims pending before Judges of Compensation Claims. In <u>Bell</u> and the 10 cases consolidated with it, the Court denied the City's request to stay these various proceedings pending the outcome of the consolidated cases.

<sup>5</sup>City of Miami v. Graham, 138 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 1962); City of Miami v. Giordano, 526 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); City of Miami v. Barragan, 517 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev'd, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989); City of Miami v. Knight, 510 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. denied, 518 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1987); Thorpe v. City of Miami, 356 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Cert. denied, 361 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1978); West v. City of Miami, 341 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 355 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 1978); Hoffkins v. City of Miami, 339 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 348 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 1977); and City of Miami v. West, IRC Order 2-2647 (May 22, 1974), cert. denied, 310 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1975).

In 1989, the Court held the City's ordinance to be invalid as of 1973, without expressing an opinion whether that invalidation applied both prospectively and retroactively, or only prospectively. Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989).

The Court concluded in Bell and the consolidated cases that effect on the the "Barragan [decision] has no amount of disability payments owed by the City to pensioners except for those payments accruing after the effective date of [Barragan] decision." 6 19 Fla. L. Weekly at S109. The Court noted in Bell that retroactive application of the Barragan decision against the City would impose a staggering financial blow to the taxpayers of Miami, based on a multitude of present and potential claims for after-the-fact recoupments of offset In contrast, the Court noted that "present and future benefits" required under Barragan "can be adjusted without serious financial consequence for City taxpayers.... 19 Fla. L. Weekly S109.

The Court astutely noted that "[h]olding the City liable for past offsets would require a reallocation of municipal services and subject today's taxpayers to yesterday's fiscal obligations" and opined that it would be "fiscally unjust" to the City taxpayers to require payment of back benefits for prior years.

19 Fla. L. Weekly at S109. There is absolutely no reason in the

The City stopped taking the offset as of August 1, 1989, rather than when the Court denied rehearing on July 14, 1989, only because that latter date was the first occasion for the issuance of monthly pension checks after the Court denied rehearing in Barragan on July 14, 1989.

instant case to depart from  $\underline{\text{Bell}}$  and the consolidated cases in this case. Accordingly, the Court is requested to issue in opinion in accordance with its holding in  $\underline{\text{Bell}}$ .

II.

THE CITY SHOULD NOT BE SUBJECTED TO THE 10% PENALTY FOR ITS FAILURE TO PAY A COMPENSATION CLAIM WHERE A RETROACTIVE "BARRAGAN' PAYMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" OR "AN INSTALLMENT OF COMPENSATION" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 440.20, FLA. STAT.

The second set of major issues address the applicability of the punitive penalty which the workers' compensation law provides for employers who inexcusably delay either paying compensation claims or denying that payment is due. Bell was not necessary for the Court in Bell and the consolidated cases to reach this issue because its determination that "Barragan has no effect" retroactively was dispositive. Likewise, it is not necessary for the Court to decide the penalty question because this case is governed by the Court's recent Bell opinion.

So as to avoid undue repetition, the City adopts and incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the arguments made in its briefs in <u>Bell</u> and the ten other cases as to why penalties under Florida's Workers' Compensation Act do not

So as to avoid undue repetition, the City adopts and incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the arguments made in its briefs in <u>Bell</u> and the ten other cases as to why <u>Barragan</u> should not be applied retroactively against the City.

The penalty issue is before the Court on a certified question from the First District Court of Appeal. The retroactivity and other issues are before the Court under the doctrine announced in Bould v. Touchette, 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1977); Hillsborough Ass'n for Retarded Citizens v. City of Temple Terrace, 332 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1976).

apply under these circumstances. If for some reason the Court grants rehearing in <u>Bell</u>, Petitioner respectfully requests that it be allowed to file a supplemental brief addressing the penalty question in toto.

#### III.

CITY SHOULD NOT BE SUBJECTED TO PAY THE PREJUDGMENT INTEREST FOR ITS FAILURE TO PAY A WHERE RETROACTIVE COMPENSATION CLAIM Α "BARRAGAN" **PAYMENT** DOES TOM CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" **PURPOSES** SECTION FOR OF 440.20, FLA. STAT.

The third and final set of issues address the applicability of the interest provision of Section 440.20, Fla. Stat. under the circumstances attendant to retroactive pension offset awards as a Although the City argued against the result of Barragan. assessment of prejudgment interest under Section 440.20, Fla. Stat. in some, but not all, of the cases consolidated with Bell, the Court did not need to reach that issue in light of its dispositive holding that Barragan was not to be retroactively against the City. Similarly, it is not necessary for the Court to decide the interest question, notwithstanding the First District's certification of the question for the first time at this late juncture of the post-Barragan litigation, because this case is governed by the Court's recent Bell opinion.

So as to avoid undue repetition, the City adopts and incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the arguments made in its briefs in cases consolidated with <u>Bell</u> as to why interest under Florida's Workers' Compensation Act does not apply under these circumstances. If for some reason the Court grants rehearing in <u>Bell</u>, Petitioner respectfully requests

that it be allowed to file a supplemental brief addressing the interest question in toto.

#### CONCLUSION

Petitioner, CITY OF MIAMI, respectfully requests this Court reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in accordance with the Court's recent issued in <a href="Bell">Bell</a>. Penalties and prejudgment interest are also inappropriate.