047
FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 18 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 83,212

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

CITY OF MIAMI, :
 :
 Petitioner, :
 :
 vs. :
 :
 JAMES P. GILBERT, :
 :
 Respondent. :
 :
 _____ :

**ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,
JAMES P. GILBERT**

RICHARD A. SICKING
Attorney for Respondent
2700 S. W. Third Avenue, Suite 1E
Miami, Florida 33129
Telephone (305) 858-9181
Florida Bar No. 073747

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a case in which the City of Miami asks that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the present case be changed to conform to this Court's decision in *City of Miami v. Bell*, 19 FLW S108 (March 30, 1994). For the reasons stated in this brief, the Respondent, James P. Gilbert, requests that the Court not do so. Rather, he asks that the decision of the District Court be affirmed.

The Statement of the Case and Facts given by the Petitioner, City, should be modified by the following:

James P. Gilbert suffered a compensable accident on May 13, 1976, when he injured his neck and back "while trying to lift a cardiac arrest victim from a bathtub". (R. 250) In the opinion of Dr. Michael S. Gordon, Professor of Medicine at the University of Miami, Mr. Gilbert was permanently totally disabled as a firefighter as of December 6, 1976:

In addition, he is currently disabled for even sedentary activities and faces a possible additional spinal operation. The duration of his disability is indeterminate and is likely to be permanent. It is also our feeling that his neurologic problems are related to an accident which occurred on 5/13/76 while in the line of duty. (R. 251)

The Respondent was awarded his service-connected disability pension on December 18, 1976. (R. 238)

The Respondent was accepted by the City as being permanently totally disabled from December 17, 1976. (R. 40) From that time until August 1, 1989, the City deducted the Respondent's workers' compensation payments for permanent total disability from his service-connected disability pension, which was paid from a fund to which he, himself, contributed. (R. 6, 40)

The record shows that beginning in fiscal year 1973/1974, the City of Miami not only deducted the workers' compensation payments from the disabled employees' pensions, but at the end of the fiscal year, withdrew money from the pension trust fund to reimburse the City for the workers' compensation payments that were made, so that at the end of the year all payments had come from the pension trust fund and the City had paid nothing. (R. 77-78) The taking of money by the City from the employees' pension trust fund to pay workers' compensation continued for the years thereafter. (R. 166-168, *City of Miami v. Arostegui*, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,560.)

The employees brought suit against the City for this taking of money from their pension trust fund, and the Third District Court of Appeal held in *City of Miami v. Gates*, 393 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) that the City had illegally taken money from the employees' pension trust fund to pay workers' compensation.

In that case, the City contended that it was permissible to pay the City's workers' compensation obligations from the employees' pension trust fund because both were intended for payment to the employees. *City of Miami v. Gates*, supra, at 588.

The Third District Court of Appeal said of the City's contention:

This claim amounts to the suggestion that, while one may not rob Peter to pay Paul, it is permissible to take from Paul himself in order to do so. It need hardly be stated that we thoroughly disagree with such a proposition. *City of Miami v. Gates*, supra, at 588.

In *Barragan v. City of Miami*, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that the City's offsetting workers' compensation against the employees' disability pensions was unlawful.¹

The City filed a motion for rehearing in *Barragan*. (R. 116) In that motion for rehearing, the City argued that there were other retirees to whom the *Barragan* decision would apply. (R. 21, 150) In the motion, the City argued there would be over 100. (R. 121)²

In the *Barragan* case, the City's advocacy was most peculiar. The City attached as an exhibit to its motion for rehearing, a draft of a complaint of a suit for declaratory decree, which the City threatened to file if it did not win the motion for rehearing. (R. 121, 147) This was a proposed complaint for a suit for declaratory judgment in which the City contended that the *Barragan* decision should be limited to prospective application only with respect to other retirees. (R. 121, 150) The complaint was never filed. Importantly, the City argued to the Supreme Court on rehearing in *Barragan*:

The City contends ...that *Barragan* should have prospective effect only. (R. 150)

The Supreme Court denied the City's motion for rehearing. (R. 152)

In the proceedings below, the City raised no defense of detrimental reliance upon its ordinance or upon any case decision. (Pretrial Stipulation dated August 2, 1991. R. 40)

¹ *Barragan* and Giordano, the petitioners in that case, had received workers' compensation awards to repay them for the money that had been illegally offset not just from the date of the decision, but from the date of their retirement. (R. 100-110)

² The number was exaggerated since now five years after *Barragan*, there were the six people who received their awards following this Court's post-*Barragan* order in *City of Miami v. Ogle*, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,055 (October 14, 1992) and the 11 people involved in *Bell*, plus Mr. Gilbert.

In the proceedings below, the City raised no defense of an inability to pay. (Pretrial Stipulation dated August 2, 1991. R. 40)

At the hearing of May 18, 1992, the City called no witnesses.

The documentary evidence offered into evidence by the City consists of the pension fund file on James Gilbert and the City's pension ordinance. It contains no documents relating to any inability of the City to pay. It contains no documents relating to any detrimental reliance by the City upon its ordinance or upon any case in taking the offset.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The City asks that the decision of the District Court below be modified by this Court's decision in *City of Miami v. Bell*, 19 FLW S108 (March 30, 1994). In *Bell*, this Court held:

We conclude that our decision in *Barragan* has no effect on the amount of disability payments owed by the City to pensioners except for those payments accruing after the effective date of that decision. *Bell*, at 109.

The Court reasoned:

Holding the City liable for past offsets would require a reallocation of municipal services and subject today's taxpayers to yesterday's fiscal obligations. ...Present and future benefits required by *Barragan* can be adjusted without serious financial consequences for City taxpayers; but to require back benefits for prior years would be fiscally unjust to the taxpayers of the City of Miami. *Bell*, at 109.

The Respondent, James Gilbert, is permanently totally disabled such that he has a "physical handicap" by any definition. Section 2 of Article I of the Florida Constitution provides that no person shall be deprived of any right because of race, religion, or physical handicap. Section 9 of Article I of the Florida Constitution guarantees due process of law. Section 2 of Article I of the Florida Constitution guarantees due process of law and equal

protection of the laws. §760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat., provides that it is an unlawful employment practice for an employer "...to discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's ...handicap." The government of the United States has adopted the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the "ADA"). 42 U.S.C. §12112(a)³ . It prohibits discrimination against the disabled⁴ in regard to rates of pay or any other form of compensation and changes in compensation. 29 C.F.R. §1630.4, 56 Fed. Reg. 35,726; 35,736 (1991).

Further, it prohibits discrimination against disabled employees in regard to access to benefits 29 C.F.R. Ap §1630.5, 56 Fed. Reg. 35,726; 35,746 (1991).

The Constitution of the United States provides that the laws of the United States are the supreme law of the land. Art. VI, U. S. Const. It further guarantees due process of law and equal protection of the laws. Amendment XIV, U. S. Const.

In *Bell*, the Court recognized, as it did in *Barragan*, that the City had unlawfully deducted workers' compensation payments from the employees' service-connected disability pensions. However, in *Bell*, this Court modified *Barragan* to provide that the *Barragan* decision is prospective only, for the reason that it would be unfair to the City's taxpayers of today to require them to pay for yesterday's fiscal obligations. *Bell*, at 109. Having

³ The purpose of the Act stated by Congress is to "provide a clear and comprehensive national mandate for the elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities". 42 U.S.C. §12101. Congress found "individuals with disabilities are a discrete and insular minority." 42 U.S.C. §12101(a)(7).

⁴ An individual is disabled if the person is limited in the major life activity of working because of a physical or mental impairment. 29 C.F.R. App. §1630.2(j), 56 Fed. Reg. 35,726; 35,741 (1991). Permanent total disability under workers' compensation would certainly fit this definition.

recognized that the disabled employees, such as the Petitioner, were entitled to payment on account of the repeal by the State Legislature of §440.09(4), Fla. Stat., in 1973, and that the City's deduction after repeal was illegal, nonetheless the Court, in essence, balanced the harm to the disabled as against the harm to the taxpayers. This Court concluded that the harm to the taxpayers was greater, and therefore, the disabled employees should not be paid what they would otherwise have been entitled to receive. The addition of the physically handicapped to the declaration of rights in the Florida Constitution as well as the passage of the ADA by the federal government, clearly identifies the physically handicapped as a suspect class. They are a discrete and insular minority. The Constitutional guarantees of equal protection of the law provide that a suspect class, a discrete and insular minority, may not be required to bear the financial burden of government programs when compared to taxpayers generally. This is true even for programs for the benefit of the suspect class. The physically handicapped are a suspect class.

In summary, when this Court, in *Bell*, chose to balance the interests of the taxpayers against the interests of the disabled employees in favor of the taxpayers, the Court made a choice, which is forbidden by the Florida and the federal Constitutions.

In the present case, since the City did not claim in the proceedings below, and presented no evidence of, any financial hardship, it would a denial of procedural due process of law to the Respondent, Gilbert, to modify *Barragan* to a prospective only application, since thereby he would have been denied any opportunity to be heard or to present any evidence that such contention was not true.

Since there was no contention in the proceedings below, and the City presented no evidence of it, the Respondent, Gilbert, would be denied procedural due process of law with respect to any application of *Bell* that the City had detrimentally relied upon its own ordinance or any case decision in offsetting his benefits. This is particularly true since this Court determined in *Bell* that the City had relied upon *Hoffkins* in taking the offset. *Bell*, at 109. This could not apply to Mr. Gilbert, since in *Hoffkins*' case, Mr. Hoffkins was injured before repeal and in the present case, Mr. Gilbert was injured after repeal. This is a significant difference.

As to the award of penalties and interest, the District Court of Appeal was correct. *Bell*, at 109.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS
ERRED IN APPLYING *BARRAGAN v. CITY OF
MIAMI*, 545 So. 2d 252 (FLA. 1989)
RETROACTIVELY WHERE SAID DECISION
OVERRULED NUMEROUS APPELLATE
PRECEDENTS UPON WHICH THE CITY
RELIED TO ITS DETRIMENT.

[Petitioner's Point I]

On this point, the City begs the question of whether the City relied to its detriment on numerous overruled appellate precedents, because it did not do so as to Mr. Gilbert.

In the present case, Gilbert was awarded his disability retirement by the City on December 16, 1976. At that time the City began offsetting his benefits in the same manner as had been determined in *City of Miami v. Gates*, supra, to have been an illegal taking by the City from the employees' pension trust fund. At that point in time, there was no case that applied to Mr. Gilbert upon which the City could have relied.

The first case of any kind was that of *Hoffkins v. City of Miami*, 339 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. Third DCA 1976), which was initially decided by the Third District Court of Appeal on December 1, 1976, 15 days before Mr. Gilbert received his retirement, but rehearing was not denied until December 21, 1976, which was five days afterwards.

However, there is a very significant point about the *Hoffkins* case which clearly shows that it could not have been relied upon to offset Mr. Gilbert's benefits, because Lawrence Hoffkins was injured on July 10, 1972. (A. 1-6, *City of Miami v. King*, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,999) This was before the repeal of the offset statute by the Florida Legislature. Therefore, his case could not have been relied upon by the City of Miami to offset Mr. Gilbert's benefits when he was injured three years after repeal.

Furthermore, in the proceedings below, at the pretrial, the City made no announcement of any defense that it detrimentally relied upon any case, or even upon its own ordinance, and at the trial it presented no evidence of any such detrimental reliance. Therefore, in the case of James Gilbert, those contentions cannot possibly be true. For the rest of its argument, the City simply relies on *Bell*. (Petitioner's brief 6-7) The City makes no contention that the record supports any conclusion that it is financially hard pressed to pay Mr. Gilbert. Indeed, in the present case, the City made no contention in the pretrial stipulation that it had any hardship in paying Mr. Gilbert or anyone else. The City presented no evidence at the hearing that it would be any hardship to the City to pay Mr. Gilbert. There is no way to tell from the record whether it is a large sum, or a small sum, or a medium sum, or even a very small sum. Therefore, it would have to be concluded that Mr. Gilbert has not been afforded the opportunity at a fair hearing to present any evidence that it would not be a hardship to the City to

pay him. Therefore, the City's reliance on *Bell* in this regard is inappropriate with respect to Mr. Gilbert.

There is still another reason why the City's reliance upon *Bell* is inappropriate to Mr. Gilbert's case. The City admits that Mr. Gilbert is permanently totally disabled. He would fit any definition of physically handicapped anywhere in the world. The Florida Constitution in Article I, §2, guarantees equal protection of the laws to the physically handicapped as well as persons on account of race, and persons on account of religion. The effect of the people of Florida naming these three classifications in §2 of Article I, race, religion or physical handicap, with respect to equal protection of the law, is to identify each one as a suspect class. A suspect class is one which historically has been picked on by the government. The people of Florida wished to make it clear in their Constitution that they would no longer tolerate their government picking on anyone because of their race, their religion, or their physical handicap. A suspect class constitutes a discrete and insular minority.⁵ This discrete and insular minority may not be picked upon to bear the financial burden of a government program, as contrasted with taxpayers generally, even for programs for their own benefit. 42 U.S.C. §12101(a)(5) and (7); 42 U.S.C. §12101(b)(4); 42 U.S.C. §12131 and 42 U.S.C. §12132.

In *Bell*, the Court recognized that the obligation of the City to pay the pension and the workers' compensation benefit existed ever since repeal of the offset statute by the Florida Legislature on June 1, 1973. However, in making *Barragan* prospective only, the Court reasoned:

⁵ *U. S. v. Carolene Products Co.*, 304 U.S. 144, 82 L. Ed 1234, 58 S. Ct. 778, at 783-784 (1938).

Holding the City liable for past offsets would require a reallocation of municipal services and subject today's taxpayers to yesterday's fiscal obligations. *Bell*, at S. 109.

* * * * *

Present and future benefits requires by *Barragan* can be adjusted without serious financial consequences for City taxpayers; but to require back benefits for prior years would be fiscally unjust to the taxpayers of the City of Miami. *Bell*, at S. 109.

To put it plainly, the Court balanced the interest of today's taxpayers with those of the physically handicapped to receive the benefits which the Legislature had provided for in 1973, but which the City had denied to them. It was a balancing act. The problem, however, is given the Florida Constitution guarantees of equal protection of the laws identifying the physically handicapped as a suspect class, that is a choice which the Court cannot make under the Florida Constitution. The Court may not choose between taxpayers and the physically handicapped. To do so is to breach the compact between the people of Florida and their government. Nor can we consider that this provision in the Florida Constitution is a mere historical anomaly. The Florida Legislature has implemented this constitutional right by §760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat. More importantly, the federal government has passed the Americans with Disabilities Act, which is a comprehensive act dealing with discrimination against the physically handicapped, including those by employers and by the states and by local government. The federal statute prohibits discrimination against the physically handicapped by employers with respect to wages and conditions of employment and other benefits including health benefits and pension benefits. 42 U.S.C. §12112. The federal statute prohibits discrimination against the physically handicapped by the states and local government with respect to government programs. 42 U.S.C. §12131 and 42 U.S.C. §12132. The

Court in *Bell* balanced the interest of the City of Miami taxpayers with the interest of the permanently totally disabled police officers and firefighters who were injured in the line of duty,⁶ in favor of the taxpayers. The Court did this notwithstanding that the disabled employees are clearly within a federally protected status as physically handicapped individuals under the ADA. The Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits the states and local government from such action.

For these reasons, the Respondent, Gilbert, contends that the decision in *Bell* does not apply to him. He was not afforded a fair hearing with respect to any contention that the City had relied on *Hoffkins* offsetting his benefits. It, of course, would be impossible for the City to have done so in his case. Furthermore, he was afforded no opportunity of a fair hearing with respect to any claim by the City that it would be a financial hardship for today's taxpayers to pay him what he admittedly was otherwise entitled to receive.

More importantly, since it is acknowledged that he is permanently totally disabled, he is among the physically handicapped. Therefore, the Court would have violated both federal law and state constitutional provisions by permitting the City of Miami not to pay him from the date of his retirement to the date of the *Barragan* decision because it would be a hardship to today's taxpayers to do so.

⁶ The two people in *Barragan*; the six people in *Ogle*; the 11 people in *Bell*, plus Mr. Gilbert in the five years since *Barragan* was decided. Of these, *Barragan* and *Giordano* and the six people in *Ogle* have been paid since the date of their retirement, not just prospectively from the date of the *Barragan* decision.

POINT II

THE CITY SHOULD NOT BE SUBJECTED TO THE 10% PENALTY FOR ITS FAILURE TO PAY A COMPENSATION CLAIM WHERE A RETROACTIVE "BARRAGAN" PAYMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" OR "AN INSTALLMENT OF COMPENSATION" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 440.20, FLA. STAT.

[Petitioner's Point II]

POINT III

THE CITY SHOULD NOT BE SUBJECTED TO PAY PREJUDGMENT INTEREST FOR ITS FAILURE TO PAY A COMPENSATION CLAIM WHERE A RETROACTIVE "BARRAGAN" PAYMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE "COMPENSATION" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 440.20, FLA. STAT.

[Petitioner's Point III]

Points II and III by the City are really the same point, arguing that the payment of the benefits awarded by the Judge of Compensation Claims and affirmed by the Court of Appeals are not compensation. However, the City acknowledges that this Court, in *Bell*, did decide that the penalty provisions and the interest provisions of the Florida Workers' Compensation Law did apply. [In *Bell's* case, to the two weeks of benefits that were not paid from the date of the *Barragan* decision becoming final to August 1, 1989, when the City began making payment.]

The penalty was imposed by the Judge of Compensation Claims because the City did not file a notice to controvert, as required by statute, as of August 1, 1989, when it accepted responsibility to pay prospectively, but denied benefits from the date of retirement to that date. Yet, the City did not complete a notice to controvert until November 30, 1989, some four months later.